of “sis-sis,” whence their Hebrew name. Their cry sounds like
that of a person in pain and to it King Hezekiah compared
his groans during his illness (Isa. 38:14). Jeremiah (8:7) notes
that the bird arrives in the land at a fixed date. In Israel the
swift nests in the interstices of walls and roofs until, at the
beginning of July when the fledglings are grown, it returns
to South Africa.

BIBLIOGRAPHY: Lewysohn, Zool, 209, no. 258; ES. Boden-
heimer, Animal and Man in Bible Lands (1960), 58; J. Feliks, Animal

World of the Bible (1962), 89.
[Jehuda Feliks]

SWIG, BENJAMIN HARRISON (1893-1980), U.S. business-
man and philanthropist. His father, Simon Swig, an immigrant
from Lithuania, rose from an ordinary peddler to become a
Republican member of the Massachusetts State Legislature and
founder of the Tremont Trust Company of Taunton, Mass., for
which Benjamin went to work in 1914. He remained with the
company until 1920, when it went bankrupt in consequence
of the Ponzi postal-coupon scandal. Swig then ventured into
the real estate business, in which he prospered until the stock
market crash of October 1929, which ruined him financially.
He recouped his fortune, however, and in 1937 joined forces
with his brother-in-law, J.D. *Weiler, a real estate broker from
New York. By the 1940s Swig and Weiler had become one of
the largest real estate firms in the United States. In 1945 Swig
settled in San Francisco, a city with which his commercial
and civic activities were thereafter largely identified. Among
the properties acquired by him there were the Fairmont Ho-
tel and the St. Francis; the Bankers Investment Building; and
the giant Merchandise Mart.

He began to take an interest in Democratic Party poli-
tics, to which he contributed handsomely, was active in the
Stevenson campaigns of 1952 and 1956, and was an early sup-
porter of John E Kennedy, and later, Robert Kennedy. He was a
founding member of Brandeis University and gave generously
to the State of Israel, as well as a large number of general and
Jewish charities, especially the United Jewish Appeal, Israel
Bonds, the Hebrew University of Jerusalem, and the national
Reform movement. He also gave to many Catholic institu-
tions, including the University of Santa Clara. In 1988, the Mae
and Benjamin Swig Fund for Jewish Community Involvement
was established as part of the Jewish Community Endowment
Fund of the Jewish Community Federation of San Francisco,
the Peninsula, Marin and Sonoma Counties. It is dedicated to
seed funding programs that provide innovative models for the
involvement of individuals in the Jewish community.

Swig’s son RICHARD (1925-1997) managed the Fairmont
Hotel from 1946. As chairman of the Fairmont Hotel Manage-
ment Company, he expanded the Fairmont hotel chain into
seven major U.S. cities. Following in his family’s philanthropic
footsteps, he served on numerous boards encompassing all re-
ligious, political, and cultural arenas, contributing generously
to a wide array of causes. In 1998 the Swig Company sold its
interests in three of its Fairmont hotels (in San Francisco, Dal-
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las, and New Orleans), as well as its 50 percent interest in the
Fairmont Hotel Management Company, to a hotel investment
fund run by Maritz, Wolff & Co.

BIBLIOGRAPHY: WJ. Blum, Benjamin H. Swig: the Measure
of a Man (1968). ADD. BIBLIOGRAPHY: B. Scharlach, Dealing from
the Heart: A Biography of Benjamin Swig (2000).

[Hillel Halkin / Ruth Beloff (274 ed.)]

SWITZERLAND, central European republic.

The Medieval Community

Since the frontiers of Switzerland have undergone a long pro-
cess of evolution, it is difficult to determine where and when
the Jews appeared for the first time.

In Kaiseraugst a finger-ring with a carved menorah, a sho-
far, and an etrog were found in Roman ruins. They are dated
to the end of the fourth century. From then on there is no evi-
dence of Jewish life until the 13" century.

Jews are first mentioned in *Basle from 1213, when the
bishop of the town ordered the return of the pledges which
he had deposited with a Jewish moneylender. In the list of
the taxes due from the most important Jewish communities
of the Holy Roman Empire (1241), Basle is mentioned as li-
able for 40 silver marks and 20 silver marks. In the course of
the 13t century the first Jewish communities appeared in *Lu-
cerne (1252), *Berne (1262-63), *St. Gall (1268), Winterthur
(before 1270), *Zurich (1273), *Schafthausen (1278), Zofingen
and Bischofszell (1288), and Rheinfelden (1290). The number
of communities increased in the succeeding century, when
there were some 30 communities in the German-speaking
part of Switzerland. At the same time, increasing numbers
of communities were established in what has become the
French-speaking area of Switzerland, then part of the region
where the house of Savoy held sway: besides *Geneva, where
the first Jewish settlement is mentioned in 1281-82, 14 com-
munities were formed at the end of the 13*» and beginning of
the 14 centuries.

It is apparent that most of these Jews came from Alsace
and southern Germany on the one hand and from France on
the other, the stream of immigration gaining in intensity af-
ter the expulsion of the Jews from France in 1306. The taxes
of the Jews were paid to the counts of Hapsburg in the north
and to the dukes of Savoy in the south, with the towns often
securing a portion of these revenues for themselves. On oc-
casion, the Jews received the freedom of a city in the north,
but this was of limited duration. The principal occupation of
these groups of Jews was moneylending. The most important
communities in Switzerland proper were those of Berne, Zu-
rich, and Lucerne.

In Zurich a beautiful reception hall of a Jewish money-
lender has been discovered. He painted the coat of arms of his
noble clients with Hebrew inscriptions on the walls.

By the middle of the 14" century the right to autho-
rize the existence of a community had been transferred to
the towns. The communities appear to have been relatively
small; Berne, Zurich, and some other communities seem to
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have owned cemeteries. The life of the Jews until the middle
of the 14t century appears to have been free of any major up-
heavals, with the exception of Berne, where as the result of a
*blood libel (c. 1294) some Jews were executed and the rest
expelled. The tomb of the supposedly martyred child in the
blood libel case was for a long time a place of pilgrimage for
Christians. In 1403 another libel was voiced in Diessenhofen,
leading to persecutions in Schafthausen. In 1348 the whole of
Swiss Jewry was threatened with extermination. The *Black
Death having reached Savoy, a number of Jews of Chillon
were tortured to confess to having caused the plague by poi-
soning the wells. As news of this spread to other communi-
ties on Lake Geneva, to German-speaking Switzerland, and to
northern Europe, a wave of anti-Jewish persecutions ensued;
as each town was struck by the plague, the Jews were burnt at
the stake. This was the fate of almost all the communities on
the shores of Lake Geneva. When the municipality of Berne
learned of these accusations, it requested a copy of the con-
fession, and soon after, the Jews of Berne too were burnt at
the stake (November 1348). One local Jew was even accused
of having sent poison to the Jews of Basle, and the munici-
pality warned various towns to beware of the Jewish poison-
ers. Practically all the towns of Switzerland took up the ac-
cusation, burning or expelling the Jews, particularly Zurich
(Feb. 22, 1349) and Lucerne. These persecutions also spread to
Alsace and Germany. The community of Switzerland was thus
dispersed, if not annihilated. A few years later, however, the
survivors, together with newcomers, had reestablished them-
selves and reconstituted the former communities. However,
as a result of the competition of the Lombards and the Ca-
horsins, the usefulness of the Jews as a source of credit soon
diminished and they were expelled from those towns which
required residence permits (Berne, 1427; *Fribourg, 1428; Zu-
rich, 1436; Geneva, 1490). From Basle they fled out of fear of
persecution (1397). Soon, only a few Jewish physicians were
allowed to live in the Swiss towns. After expulsions from the
big cities, Jews found refuge in small towns such as Bremgar-
ten, Kaiserstuhl or the monastery village of Rheinau (1475).
After then, their traces disappear.

The only Jewish scholar of note in Switzerland during
the Middle Ages was Moses of Zurich, who, at the beginning
of the 14'® century, wrote notes and additions on the SeMaK
(Sefer Mitzvot Katan).

In the 1560s the first Jewish families reappear in the re-
gion of Basle/Southern Alsace (Kembs, Weil), Waldshut (Tien-
gen), and possibly the Bodensee region (Rheineck). They lived
at various places, e.g., Rapperswil, Mammern, Andelfingen,
etc. In 1560, a Hebrew printing press was established in Tien-
gen, north of Zurzach. In the 17" century stable rural com-
munities came into being. Most of the Jews resided on the
border of Switzerland from western Alsace to the Rhine val-
ley, from Basle to Hohenems in Vorarlberg, trading in cattle
and peddling during weekdays. In Switzerland they were ex-
pelled from the bishopric of Basle (1694) and from Dornach
(1736). In the territory of the “county of Baden,” administered
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after 1711 by Berne, Zurich, and Glarus, the Jews concentrated
themselves in the two villages of Endingen and Lengnau, hav-
ing a full Jewish infrastructure and building representative
synagogues in the 1750s. In Neuchatel some Jews already tried
to settle in the 1770s. The duke of Savoy attracted Alsatian Jews
to Carouge, near Geneva. In 1780, some Jews also resided in
Porrentruy and slowly the Jewish landscape of Switzerland
began to change.

Slow Steps Toward Emancipation

The proclamation of the Helvetian Republic (1798) was a turn-
ing point in the history of the Jews in Switzerland. A year ear-
lier, the Swiss confederation had been compelled to refrain
from any discriminatory measures against French Jews. As
the influence of the ideas of the French Revolution made itself
felt, the problem of the rights of the Jews arose. During the
ensuing debates, a majority emerged which refused to grant
the Jews total *emancipation on the grounds that the Jews
were a political rather than a religious body, insistent on pre-
serving their particularism. Following protests by the Jewish
communities, a new debate was held, but no conclusions were
reached. In the meantime, the status of the Jews resembled
that of the aliens residing in Switzerland. They were granted
freedom of movement, residence, and trade.

Some Jews managed to receive a settlement permit in
Basle (after 1799), Berne (before 1820), Zurich (1817), La Chaux
de Fonds (1818), Avenches (1827), and elsewhere.

The publication of *Napoleon’s “Infamous Decree” in
1808, which constituted a check to the civil rights of the Jews,
strengthened the hand of their Swiss adversaries. The canton
of Aargau dealt with the problem of the Jews in the follow-
ing manner (May 5, 1809): They were subject to all laws and
ordinances of the canton without receiving citizenship; their
commercial activities were regulated and limited; and they
were advised to engage in useful professions. They were also
required to obtain a special authorization before marrying.
This was obviously a serious lowering of their status, which
also encouraged discriminatory police measures. In 1824, the
canton reorganized the Jewish community: It was authorized
to retain funds for education and worship, and the Jews were
also ordered to provide for the needs of their destitute coreli-
gionists without the assistance of the public authorities. The
administrative body was to be nominated by the government
of the canton. The freedom of the cities was still refused to
them, but instead of being considered as aliens, they became
dependents of the canton. In the meantime the situation of the
Jews in Switzerland became increasingly paradoxical as cer-
tain foreign governments, especially that of France, became
interested in safeguarding the rights of their citizens of Jew-
ish religion who were discriminated against in Switzerland.
The case of the Jews of Alsace, who were already numerous
in Switzerland, was of profound importance for the situation
of the Jews in the country. Finally, the revision of the federal
constitution of 1866 granted the Jews freedom of residence
throughout Switzerland, which henceforward was no longer
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dependent on adherence to one of the recognized Christian
sects. Federal intervention had become necessary as a result
of contradictory votes in which the Jews of Aargau had been
granted and then subsequently refused civic rights. In fact
the regional Great Council had voted for their emancipation
on May 15, 1862, but had been dismissed by a popular vote
which had been solicited after a deliberate and active agita-
tion. The emancipation decree having thus been repealed,
a new law reintroduced most of the former conditions one
year later. It abolished the discriminatory measures concern-
ing residence and marriage and granted the communities the
right of electing their own administrative bodies. There had
thus been a very slight progress. Other cantons had already
previously granted equal rights to their inhabitants and most
other cantons followed suit from 1862, with the exception of
Aargau, which did not grant full local citizenship rights until
Jan. 1, 1879, following a campaign led by the famous historian
Meyer *Kayserling, rabbi of Endingen and Lengnau between
1861 and 1871, and the intervention of the federal council, the
high court and the diet (Bundesversammlung). Therefore
the one canton which inherited two rural communities at its
founding in 1803 was the last to grant them emancipation.
However, the religious liberty of the Jews was incomplete.
After a campaign against cruelty toward animals, in which
the influence of the antisemitic movements of the end of the
century could be detected, a popular vote decided to include
prohibition of shehitah in the federal constitution (1893). As
this decision was taken by plebiscite, it could only be abro-
gated by another plebiscite, and so the practice of shehitah on
quadrupeds - the legislator neglected the case of fowls - is
still prohibited in Switzerland.

Population

The Jewish population of Switzerland increased steadily.
Southern Alsatian and south-Baden rural Jews could finally
settle in the areas of commerce which they had already fre-
quented from the end of the 16 to the middle of the 17t cen-
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turies. In 1888 8,069 persons declared themselves as Jewish;
in 1910 20,797 were registered as such. After the 1870s immi-
gration of Jews from Eastern Europe began. Students were at-
tracted by Swiss universities. Women were allowed to study at
the University of Zurich from 1867. Rosa *Luxemburg earned
her Ph.D. in Zurich, Chaim *Zhitlowsky was active and Vlad-
imir *Medem organized the BUND from Geneva. Jews were
welcomed as university teachers, so Chaim *Weizmann taught
chemistry, Moritz *Lazarus was university rector in Berne,
Max *Buedinger dean in Zurich in 1863. A circle of Jewish
students existed around the Hungarian-Jewish philosopher
Ludwig *Stein in Berne. Most of the East European Jewish
students left Switzerland between 1914 and 1917.

After granting freedom of residence in 1864/66 the com-
munities of Endingen and Lengnau (where the synagogues,
reconstructed during the middle of the 19" century;, are to be
seen and are still used for marriages and some Rosh Hodesh
prayers) were broken up, and with the exodus from rural com-
munitites of nearby Alsace and Baden, many new communi-
ties were formed in cities (Basle 1805, Avenches 1827, La Chaux
de Fonds 1833, Berne and Bienne 1848, Geneva 1852, Yverdon
1850, Baden 1859, Zurich 1862, St. Gall 1863, Lucerne 1867, Lau-
sanne 1868). However the number of Jews has remained small
in relation to the general population (1920: 0.54%).

Jews were prominent in cattle trading but did not dom-
inate it, constituting only one seventh of all dealers. Many
entered the textile trade; some built up firms. Yet Protestant
families had already established an international textile in-
dustry, when the Jews still were forced to be peddlers. Most
banks were in Protestant hands, only the Dreyfus bank of
Basle and Julius Bdr of Zurich gained some importance. After
the 1870s Swiss Jews began to enter liberal professions. They
were prominent in founding department stores (Julius Brann
of Berlin, the Maus. Nordmann and Loeb families) and held
a good part of the St. Gall embroidery industry (until 1912).
With the general crisis of the textile industry in Switzerland,
the branch lost its importance. The regime of government ra-
tioning of food and its preference for peasants’ organizations
during World War 11 ruined the private cattle trade in general.
In the beginning of the 21 century Jews were concentrated
in white collar jobs.

As of 2000, 18,000 Jews were registered in Switzerland.
The most important Jewish groups were in the cantons of
Zurich (6,461), Geneva (4,356), Basle (city and canton, 1,739),
Vaud (2,062), and Berne (807). Most of the Jews had received
Swiss citizenship, so that the percentage was finally the same
as among the non-Jews (80%).

They mostly lived in city agglomerations. Orthodox fam-
ilies had more children, but many of them remained at their
later places of education (e.g., Israel) and left Switzerland. The
Jews are no longer the only non-Christian minority. The Mus-
lims surpass them by far (310,800 persons in 2000).

In 1904 13 communities, then consisting of about 1,500
heads of families, formed the Schweizerische Israelitische Ge-
meindebund (s1G) or Fédération Suisse des Communautés Is-
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raélites (rscr). The s1G is the central body of Swiss Jewry, but
all member organizations retain complete autonomy in their
own affairs, notably in religious and administrative matters.
Four ultra-Orthodox (haredi) communities do not participate,
two liberals were not accepted. In 2005 there were 23 commu-
nities with about 13,500 members. Some 4,500 others are not
attached to any formal community, but often participate in
other Jewish associations, such as B’nai B'rith.

In 1956, after the Hungarian uprising and Suez war, s1G
looked after Jewish refugees from Egypt and Hungary. It also
attended to the needs of Jews who had fled to Switzerland from
Czechoslovakia after August 1968.

In the 1970s and 1980s Anglo-Saxon families moved to
Geneva and Zurich/central Switzerland, thus giving impetus
to founding liberal Jewish communities.

Well-to-do Sephardi Jews of North African origin im-
migrated to the region of Geneva and Lausanne between the
1950s and 1970s. In Geneva, in 1965 the Groupe fraternel sé-
faradi (est. in 1925) merged with the Communauté Israelite,
having its own services in their “Hekhal ha-Ness.” In Lausanne
once a month a Sephardi service is held.

With the former Alsatian families of French Switzerland
turning completely francophone and the Sephardi not know-
ing German at all, a huge cultural gap exists between the two
groups in Switzerland.

[Simon R. Schwarzfuchs / Uri Kaufmann (2 ed.)]

Jewish Attitudes 1933 to 1945

The s1G had to organize the import of kosher meat. At the
end of the World War 1 shehitah was permitted, but banned
again after 1920. The fight against antisemitism occupied the
Jewish communities in the 1920s and after 1933. On April 1,
1933, hundreds of Jews fled to Switzerland from Germany (the
day of the “Judenboykott”). In Lucerne, the synagogue was at-
tacked and the Swiss government felt obliged to declare that
it would respect all rights of Swiss Jews. After 1935 Swiss fas-
cism lost its popularity since the Swiss recognized that they
would lose sovereignty in a Nazi Europe. In the following
years the Swiss government maintained a strict attitude to-
ward Jewish refugees: only “politically” and not “racially”
persecuted ones were welcomed, i.e., social democrats and
many fewer communists, who could prove their direct per-
sonal danger. The Swiss government ruled that the si had
to organize the funding for the costs of Jewish refugees. The
very acculturated German Jews were perceived as a foreign
danger for Swiss society (“Ueberfremdung”). After the annex-
ation of Austria to Nazi Germany in March/April 1938 some
2,000 Jews fled to Switzerland. Thus the chief of Federal For-
eigner’s Police, Heinrich Rothmund, asked the Nazi authori-
ties in October 1938 to mark the passports of all German Jews
with a “T” for “Jude,” so that Swiss border authorities could
deny entry to Jews. Many of the accepted refugees, e.g., Kurt
Tucholsky and Else Lasker-Schiiler, were forced to leave by
the Federal Foreigner’s Police. After the outbreak of the war,
Jewish refugees were engaged in “productive” labor, laying out
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streets, draining swamps, or helping the peasants. They had
to live in military camps. Families were separated and local
authorities forbade “émigrés” to visit parks and other public
places.

In April/May 1942, as the first rumors of the Holocaust
were spreading, a massive public outcry forced the Swiss gov-
ernment to soften its attitude on the Jewish refugees. The de-
bate on how to respond led to bitter internal debate in the s1g,
its president, Saly *Mayer, resigned in 1943. Some 20,000 refu-
gees who managed to approach the Swiss border were turned
back. Some 25,000 were welcomed and could survive with the
20,000 local Jews. Even if the *American Jewish Joint Distri-
bution Committee helped support the refugees (52 million
Swiss francs), the 4,000 wage-earning Jews had a heavy bur-
den to shoulder supporting thousands of refugees, donating
18,5 million Swiss francs between 1933 and 1952.

After the war the Federal Foreigner’s Police continued its
harsh policy. The responsible Bundesrat, Eduard von Steiger,
a member of the old Bernese patriciate, felt no pangs of con-
science at all and resigned only as late as 1953. He is believed
to be responsible for destroying files on the denial of admit-
tance to Jews. Only about 2,500 refugees were allowed to stay.
Swiss Jews felt very much obliged to help the survivors. Mate-
rial aid was sent to Germany. Even a teachers’ seminary was
established in Basle but dissolved in 1948.

The Christlich-Juedische Arbeitgemeinschaft in der
Schweiz (Swiss Conference of Christians and Jews) has played
an important role in the struggle against antisemitism and
neo-Nazism. The “assertions of Selisberg” (Selisberger The-
sen), formulated in 1946, were crucial for building a new re-
lationship between Christians and Jews in postwar Western
Europe.

Debate on the Past

The first public debate on Swiss refugee policy began in 1953.
A detailed report was written by Carl Ludwig, himself a po-
lice official in Basle, and published in 1957.

Following a series of representations made by the s1G, the
problem of heirless property left in Switzerland by victims of
the Nazis was legally resolved in a first step (1955/1962): Jew-
ish social institutions in Eastern Europe, the Maghreb, and
Israel received some funds.

In 1969 Alfred Hasler published his popular, moving
book, The Lifeboat is Full. It was widely discussed, but most
politicians were not interested in a debate then.

In his address at the dedication ceremony of a memo-
rial to the victims of the Holocaust in Berne’s Jewish cem-
etery on November 9, 1988, Flavio Cotti, a member of the
Swiss federal government, gave what amounted to its first,
although guarded, official apology for Switzerland not hav-
ing saved more Jews during the Holocaust. In 1995, on the
soth anniversary of the end of the War, Swiss president Kas-
par Villiger apologized to Jews in the name of the Swiss gov-
ernment for neglect towards Jewish refugees before and dur-
ing the war years.
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But only after 1995 did a debate begin, which ended with
the establishment of an Independent Historian’s Commission
(1996), which published its findings in 2002 in 24 volumes and
over 10,000 pages. No other European country made such a
serious attempt at investigating national history.

Research by historians in Swiss archives found that at
least 20,000 refugees were turned away by Switzerland dur-
ing the War.

Many Swiss were embittered that their memory of Swiss
resistance against Nazism was challenged. Nationalist re-
sentment arose in the public. The s1G took a very hard line
and demanded “justice for the Jewish people and fairness for
Switzerland.” Some of the American-Jewish attacks were not
substantiated by facts, since Swiss politics is characterized by
the compromises of a “Konkordanz-Demokratie” and is not
accustomed to harsh public polemics as in the U.S.

Under strong pressure, the Swiss banks agreed to search
for deposits made by Jews prior to World War 11 and dur-
ing the Holocaust. It is thought that many of the depositors
perished in the Holocaust and left no survivors. In February
1966, the Swiss banks claimed that they had found only some
$32 million of such deposits. The international Jewish orga-
nizations dealing with the subject (World Jewish Congress
and the World Jewish Restitution Organization) felt that this
sum was only a small fraction of what really lies hidden. In
May 1996, a memorandum of understanding was reached and
Swiss banks paid over one billion dollars to the World Jewish
Restitution Organization.

In addition, a special Swiss foundation for victims of
Nazi persecution (non-Jews and Jews alike) was established
in 1997; 273 million. Swiss Francs were donated to it by the
Swiss national bank, three private banks, and private industry.
Out of 312,000 victims, 255,000 were Jews. Until 2001, some
124,000 people living in Israel, 97,000 in Eastern Europe, and
70,000 in North America had received financial help from
this Swiss foundation.

Antisemitism
Though there were some manifestations of antisemitism (at-
tacks on kippah-wearing Jews in Zurich, desecrations of Jewish
cemeteries and the synagogue of Lugano (2005)), the majority
of the Swiss population felt more threatened by Muslim and
Third World immigrants. Still antisemitic graffiti do occur, as
do revisionist statements, to which the authorities tend to re-
act quite strongly. A new anti-racist legislation, passed by par-
liament in June 1993, makes antisemitic propaganda and the
denial of the Holocaust a criminal offense. Some right-wing
politicians attacked the law as being a limitation of freedom
of speech and called for a referendum in 1994. The fight to
gain a majority of the votes was very hard for the s1G. In 2005
some populist politicians tried to vote down the law through
another popular referendum.

From its inception, s1G also attempted to bring about
the abolition of the ban on ritual slaughter. The Swiss govern-
ment removed the ban against shehitah from the Swiss con-
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stitution and added a new law for the protection of animals
(1973). When it tried to introduce an exception clause for the
Jews, strong opposition was voiced in the Swiss media. The
SIG abstained from fighting further in order to safeguard “con-
fessional peace in Switzerland,” as formulated by its president
Alfred Donath in 2004. The animal protectors were so thor-
oughly scandalized that they gathered the necessary signa-
tures for an initiative to ban even the import of kosher meat.
However, the World Trade Organization prohibits import re-
strictions of this kind.

Internal Jewish Life

The Swiss Jewish community maintains care of the aged, in
which it follows the most up-to-date methods, and promotes
youth education through, inter alia, summer camps, meetings
of young people and organized trips to Israel, and support for
the youth movements. Swiss Jewry has also maintained since
1968 a museum in Basle (Juedisches Museum der Schweiz)
which has an important collection of cultural and religious
objects. In 1964, sIG participated in the Swiss Exhibition at
Lausanne with a pavilion designed to express the basis tenets
of Judaism, but the presentation of recent history was neither
allowed nor desired by the organizers (i.e., refugee policy). Af-
ter 1982 an exhibition on the history of Swiss Jewry was shown
at various places and translated into French.

The s1G is a founding member of the *World Jewish
Congress, and a member of the European Council of Jewish
Community Services and maintains active contact with all
world Jewish charitable organizations. Inspired by the Ameri-
can Young Leadership program, Swiss-Jewish youngsters are
coached in how to represent Judaism and Jewish history to
their non-Jewish peers.

After 1955 a movement establishing Jewish schools, in-
spired by the American example, was led first by the Ortho-
dox community of Zurich. Basle followed (1961) and after 1970
Jewish schools were established in Geneva and Lausanne, a
second one in Zurich (1979) and Basle, where there even is a
small Jewish high school. Thus 53% of all Jewish children in
Switzerland (1% to 4t grade) attend a Jewish school (2000).
Some 30% frequenting general schools receive religious les-
sons, so that more than 80% of all Jewish children receive
some kind of Jewish education.

Jewish youth movements have also made an impres-
sion. A wide range is active from the Aguda Youth (Zurich),
to Bnei Akiva (Zurich), to centralist Ha-Goshrim (Zurich),
Emuna (Basle) and Ha-Noar ha-Bone (Berne) to Ha-Shomer
ha-Za’ir (Zurich).

In 1952 a small yeshivah was established in Lucerne
(later moving to nearby Kriens), parallel to the Lithuanian-
type yeshivah of the Botschko family in Montreux (est. in
1927), which functioned until 1985. According to a 2002 Gal-
lup poll, 27% percent of the Jews visit a synagogue at least
once a week.

Polarization of Jewish life caused a breakup of Ortho-
dox groups. New minyanim were founded. The Lubavitch
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movement established itself in Switzerland after 1982. Liberal
communities came into being in Geneva (1970) and Zurich
(1978). Egalitarian groups were also active in the Zurich Cul-
tusgemeinde (Schabbat acheret) and Ofek in Basle. The “Ein-
heitsgemeinde,” combining all Jewish currents, is being seri-
ously challenged. After 16 years of discussion, the s1G nearly
split over the admission of liberal communities (2004); the
Orthodox groups threatened to pull out. A majority did vote
for admission but not the necessary two-thirds, so a liberal
“faction” was established, which coexists with the s1G on equal
footing.

Swiss Jews were definitely more integrated into Swiss
society after 1945. They were very proud that the first Jewish
member of Swiss government was elected in 1993, Ruth *Drei-
fuss, being of old Endingen-Jewish ancestry (in office until
2002). Still the number of mixed marriages went up to 60%.
Many Jews moved to suburbs far from the Jewish communi-
ties. Since being Jewish became more socially accepted, the
rate of membership in the communities rose from 50% (1960)
to 75% (2000). Many Jewish communities received state rec-
ognition, Basle being the first in 1973. This is a matter dealt
with by each canton individually.

In February 2005 a new constitution was adopted in
Zurich and the way to recognition of the two democratically
operating Jewish communities is now open. The first bid for
recognition had been turned down in 1877.

Jewish studies were integrated in university curricula,
the first being Geneva with a lectureship for Jewish thought
held by Chief Rabbi Alexandre *Safran (after 1948). In 1981
the only cathedra of Jewish studies at a Catholic faculty in
Europe was founded in Lucerne with Clemens Thoma, a spe-
cialist in rabbinic literature. Basle University opened its In-
stitute for Jewish Studies in 1998, a cathedra is now active in
Lausanne, and lectureships exist at the universities of Fribourg
and St. Gall. Thus every Swiss university with the astonishing
exception of Zurich has at least a lectureship in Jewish stud-
ies.

The Jewish press, which receives no state subsidies, was
firmly established. To the Israelitische Wochenblatt fuer die
Schweiz, the Juedische Rundschau Maccabi of Basle was added
in 1942, and the (bi-)monthly Das neue Israel (1948-86), edited
by the late Veit Wyler. In 2001 the Rundschau and the Wochen-
blatt merged into Tachles, which bought the American-Jew-
ish Aufbau and tries to continue it as a monthly (2005). The
French-speaking have their Revue Juive. Community bulletins
have become much more professional.

Since 1980 there has been nearly no Jewish immigration
to Switzerland, resulting in the problem of an aging com-
munity.

The situation of Swiss Jewry has been characterized by
two seemingly contradictory developments: a strengthening
of its institutions and a weakening of its demographic base.
Yet Jewish life in Switzerland is quite active and stable, even if
the future existence of small communities like St. Gall, Baden,
Winterthur, and Fribourg is not secure.
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Swiss Jews and Israel

Swiss Jews maintain active contact with Israel. Compared to
20,000 Jews in Switzerland, a high proportion of some 6,800
Swiss citizens are living in Israel. The Swiss-Israel Society is
dedicated to the strengthening of relations between the two
countries, and on the eve of the Six-Day War (1967) it took
the lead in a spontaneous expression of solidarity with Israel
on the part of all sectors of the Swiss people.

[Benjamin Sagalowitz / Uri Kaufmann (274 ed.)]

Relations with Israel

Switzerland does not play any political role in Middle Eastern
affairs and is wary of any move that might be interpreted as
a breach of her neutrality. Nonetheless, Switzerland has fre-
quently expressed support for Israel - first demonstrated by
the holding of *Zionist Congresses on Swiss soil — and this
feeling is shared by broad sectors of the Swiss public. These
expressions of support reached their height during the Six-
Day War (1967). Especially important in this context was the
behavior of the Swiss press, cultural organizations, and mass
media toward the incident of an Arab terrorist attack on an
El Al plane in Zurich in 1969 and the objectivity of the Swiss
authorities on all levels - political, legal, and judicial - by plac-
ing the responsibility for the attack on the governments of the
Arab countries from which the terrorists operated. An act of
sabotage in 1970 on a Swissair plane bound for Israel evoked
a similar angry reaction. Diplomatic relations existed between
the two countries from 1949 and were elevated to ambassa-
dorial level. In addition to the embassy in Berne, Israel main-
tains a consulate in Zurich and a representative attached to the
European office of the United Nations in Geneva.

Formal agreements over air transportation exist between
the two countries, as do general scientific and cultural ties.
When most of the communist countries severed diplomatic
relations with Israel after the Six-Day War, Switzerland repre-
sented Israel’s interests in Hungary and Guinea.

The broad solidarity with Israel dissipated by 1973, when
of all public figures only Friedrich Diirrenmatt spoke out for
Israel. The negative image of Israel in the Swiss mass media
furthered this process. For many right-wing citizens, Jews are
perceived as being enemies of Switzerland after the debate on
refugee policy, lost property, and bank accounts. The impor-
tant Swiss People’s Party (Schweizerische Volkspartei, a bour-
geois populist right-wing organization) withdrew its earlier
ardent support of Israel.

Swiss Foreign Minister Mrs. Calmy-Rey hosted the Ge-
neva conference trying to find a way out of the blocked peace
process in 2004. In the Swiss parliament a boycott of weap-
ons from Israel was discussed in the same year, thus marking
a remarkable shift in foreign policy from the deep sympathy

of 1967 to today’s hostility. (Uri Kautiman (2% ed)]
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SWOPE, GERARD (1872-1957), U.S. electrical engineer and
industrialist. Born in St. Louis, Missouri, where his father was
a watchcase manufacturer, Swope became fascinated with
electricity as a child. He graduated from the Massachusetts
Institute of Technology in 1895 and rapidly rose to the post of
general sales manager of Western Electric, where he became
responsible for opening additional branches in the United
States as well as in China and Japan. In 1913 he was elected vice
president and director of the company. During World War 1,
Swope was a member of the U.S. Army’s general staff and was
decorated. He also received medals from France and Japan. In
1919 he was named president of International General Elec-
tric and, in 1922, chairman of its board. From 1922 to 1939 he
served successively as president and chairman. Under his lead-
ership the company’s success reached unprecedented levels.
Swope was also associated with the development of radio and
radio parts, and was a director of the National Broadcasting
and Radio Corporation of America. In 1939 he retired from
General Electric and became chairman of the New York City
Housing Authority, one of many offices he filled in voluntary
public service. In 1931 he published the “Swope Plan” This plan
called for stabilizing industry and emphasized industry’s re-
sponsibility for preventing unemployment and mitigating its
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results. He received a number of honorary degrees, the Hoover
medal, and the gold medal of the National Academy of So-
cial Sciences. He visited Israel in 1957 and bequeathed several
million dollars to the Haifa Technion. He was the brother of

Herbert Bayard *Swope.
[Joachim O. Ronall]

SWOPE, HERBERT BAYARD (1882-1958), U.S. journal-
ist and public official; brother of Gerard *Swope. One of the
leading newspapermen of his time, he continued to exert wide
influence for 30 years after his retirement from journalism. A
man of colorful personality and with a variety of interests, he
was equally at home in journalism, business, politics, sports,
the theater, and society. Born in St. Louis, he joined the staff
of the liberal New York World in 1909 after short periods on
other papers and was soon recognized as one of New YorK’s
outstanding reporters. When the Pulitzer prizes were estab-
lished in 1917, he won the first award for reporting with his
war dispatches from Germany. These were collected in the
book Inside the German Empire (1917). In 1920 he became
executive editor of the World, and directed a number of ex-
posés, among them the Ku Klux Klan, working conditions in
Florida, and crime in New York. Retiring in 1929, he became
a policy consultant to corporations, individuals, and govern-
ment agencies. He was also a member of the first State Rac-
ing Commission of New York, served as a consultant to the
U.S. secretary of war from 1942 to 1946, and as an alternate
United States representative to the United Nations Atomic
Energy Commission.
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bibl.
[Irving Rosenthal]

SYCAMORE (Heb. nnpw), the Ficus sycomorus, of the same
genus as the fig tree. There is no connection between it and
the *plane tree, whose biblical name is armon and which is
popularly called the sycamore. The sycamore is frequently
mentioned in the Bible and in rabbinical literature. It is a
tropical evergreen with a tall trunk, its tree top having long
branches. The fruit resembles the fig, but is less sweet. Nowa-
days it grows wild in the Israeli coastal plain and the Negev,
and the fruit is rarely eaten. In biblical and talmudic times the
sycamore was one of the most valuable trees in the Erez Israel
Shephelah. David appointed an overseer “over the olive trees
and the sycamore trees that were in the Lowland” on the royal
estates (1 Chron. 27:28). Its chief value was its wood which was
used as building timber. Ordinary buildings were constructed
of it, cedar being used for palaces and luxury edifices (1 Kings
10:27; Isa. 9:9). The wood of the sycamore is light and porous
compared with the heavy cedar, and it was therefore preferred
for making ceilings (Tosef., BM 8:32; TB, ibid. 117b). This wood
does not absorb damp and withstands rot; proof of this are
the coffins of Egyptian mummies, which were mostly made
from it and have been well preserved to the present day. The
sycamore fruit, called benot shikmah or gimziyyot, was less
valued than its timber (Tosef., Pes. 2:19; Men. 7 la). Special
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